



Production of 5-hydroxymethylfurfural (5-HMF) / 2-furfural (2-F),

platform molecules for the manufacture of bioplastics, from

renewable resources

Course: (Biological chemistry and corresponding processes engineering)

Course code: CHIM0718-2

Submitted by:

Mearg Alem Aregawi

Submitted to:

Professor Aurore

Date: 12/15/2021

Contents

Abstract1
Introduction
Catalysts5
Solvents
Heating Methods9
Reaction temperature and time10
Challenges 10
Materials and Methods11
Solvents and reagents11
Plant Materials and other substrates11
Experimentation11
Determination of the calibration curve12
Result and discussion
Dry weight determination
Determination of 5-HMF, and furfural concentration14
Effect of co-catalysis on HMF and furfural yield17
Conclusion and perspectives
References
Appendix

Figure 1: 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF) structure
Figure 2: The reaction pathway of HMF and Furfural and their constituent products
Figure 3: Proposed mechanism of AICI ₃ salt conversion of amorphous cellulose into fructose and
HMF6
Figure 4: Mechanism of AICl ₃ catalyzed conversion of xylose into furfural through a hydride shift
mechanism
Figure 5: HMF (a) and Furfural (b) calibration curves13
Figure 6: Yield of HMF in molar %16
Figure 7: Concentration of 2-F for different substrates17
Figure 8: 5-HMF and furfural yield at different catalyst compositions
Figure 9: Flowsheet of HMF and furfural production (batch process and recycling included) 20

Table 1: Composition of the Biomasses	3
Table 2: Experiment at different composition of catalysts	12
Table 3: Dry weight of all biomasses	14
Table 4: 5-HMF yield (molar %) and conc. of 2-F of different substrates (a=20 min heating,	b=40
min heating)	15
Table 5: 5-HMF and furfural yield at different catalyst compositions	18
Table 6: HMF and furfural yield at 0.1 mmol AlCl $_3$.H $_2$ O loading	28
Table 7: Yield of HMF and Furfural (reaction time=60 min and AlCl3.6H2O catalyst loading=	: 0.4
mmol)	28

Abstract

The growing concern regarding environmental pollution and the depletion of fossil fuel necessitated the search for an alternative renewable carbon sources to use as a feedstock to replace fossil-fuel based products and produce value-added products. HMF and furfural are bio-derived value-added products that have wide range of applications in many areas. These products have been used to produce polymers that have similar properties as the fossil-fuel based plastics. However, the large-scale production of these products is still limited due to recalcitrance nature of lignocellulosic biomasses and hence low yields of HMF and furfural. In this study, 2-F and 5-HMF were produced from eight different lignocellulosic feedstocks, cellulose, fructose, and glucose using AlCl₃.6H₂O as a catalyst in water/THF biphasic system at 160 °C in oven for 60 minutes. NaCl was applied to increase the partitioning of HMF into the organic phase. The effect of reaction time, catalyst loading, and different compositions of AlCl₃.6H₂O and FeCl₃.6H₂O on the yields of furfural and HMF from beechwood was also examined. The highest yield of HMF was obtained from spruce biomass. Pure AlCl₃.6H₂O gives the better yield of HMF and furfural than a mixture of FeCl₃.6H₂O and AlCl₃.6H₂O. Low yield of HMF and furfural was obtained when the catalyst loading was reduced. Reduced reaction time gave reduced yields of HMF whereas the yield of furfural remains unaffected. Further experimentation is required to verify the results as only few conditions were selected for this study.

Keywords: Hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF), Furfural (2-F), Bioplastics, Renewable, cocatalysis

Introduction

Today, there is a growing concern about the global warming and sustainable economy due to the diminishing fossil fuel reserve and continuous increase in demand for energy and chemicals. This obliged the search for an alternative sustainable carbon sources which can be valorized to give valuable products or serve as building blocks for many useful products, such as polymers, pharmaceuticals, biofuels, etc. Lignocellulosic biomasses are renewable carbon sources which are widely abundant and can be the potential options to replace some fossil fuel-based products. Hydroxymethylfurfural and furfural are examples of value-added products that can be produced from lignocellulosic biomasses and have wide range of uses and applications in different areas. Therefore, given the increased population, fluctuating price of oil, and political insecurities, the development of efficient processes to produce these value-added chemicals will be much more important.

Hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF) is a value-added biomass-derived compound that contains multiple functional groups, namely, aromatic aldehyde, an aromatic alcohol, and a furan ring system (Figure 1 *(a)*). HMF is produced from hexoses and can be transformed into different chemical forms, such as ethoxymethylfurfural, 2,5-furandicarboxylic acid, furfuryl alcohol, dimethylfuran, and 2,5-diformylfuran¹. These derivatives have various applications, for example, in solvents, pharmaceuticals, fungicides, resins, biofuels, and polymers. Furfural is a solvent produced from pentoses such as xylose and arabinose and it has an aldehyde group attached to the furan ring (Figure 1 (b). Furfural is a platform compound for many chemicals, including furfuryl alcohol (FFA), tetrahydrofurfuryl alcohol (THFA), methyltetrahydrofuran (MTHF), furoic acid, furfurylamine, and methylfuran². HMF has a boiling point of 114-116 ^oC and a density of 1290 kg/m³ while furfural boils at 161.7°C (at 1 atm) and has a density of 1160 kg/m³. Traditionally, furfural was used for resin production (in foundry technologies) and as a solvent for lubricant production³.



Figure 1: 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF) structure

HMF is produced by the isomerization of glucose to fructose and dehydration of glucose into HMF. HMF can also be produced from lignocellulosic biomass by hydrolyzing the glucose-based polymers (i.e., cellulose, starch, etc.) to glucose with successive isomerization into fructose and conversion into HMF. Various lignocellulosic biomasses have been studied for HMF production including, corn stover, pine sawdust, sugarcane bagasse, different weed plants, grasses, reed, popular, etc.⁴. Other lignocellulosic biomasses such as miscanthus⁵ and beechwood⁶ have also been studied for HMF production. The cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin composition of the biomasses used in this study is given in Table 1.

Biomass	% Cellulose	% Hemicellulose	% Lignin	References
Oak bark	23.00-24.00	12.00-16.10	19.50-32.70	7
Beechwood	43.00-49.00	20.00-25.00	25.00-30.00	8
Spruce	39.01-42.51	34.98-35.30	23.69-26.06	9
Poplar	44.75 ± 2.01	20.51 ± 1.93	24.35 ± 2.74	10
Miscanthus	44.00 ± 4.80	25.40 ± 2.20	20.4 0± 4.80	11
Dialium lopense	52.00 ± 2.50	14.40 ± 1.60	23.10 ± 1.90	12
Dialium angolense	57.70 ± 2.50	15.10 ± 1.30	23.80 ± 1.90	12
Klainedoxa gabonensis	53.40 ± 2.60	12.8 0± 1.70	24.80 ± 2.30	12

Table 1: Composition of the Biomasses

Many furan-based polymers have been explored by researchers. 2,5-bis(hydroxymethyl)furan (BHMF)¹⁴, 5-ethoxymethylfurfural (EMF)¹⁵, ethyl levulinate (EL) and γ-valerolactone (gVL)¹⁶, 2,5bis(hydrxymethyl)tetrahydrofuran (BHMTF) and potential biofuel candidates (2,5 dimethylfuran (DMF)^{17,18} are few examples which have been produced from HMF platform molecule. 2,5furandicarboxylic acid (FDCA) is also furan-based polymer which have been recognized as one of the top 12 value-added bio-derived chemicals by the US department of energy. FDCA is used as a platform chemical for many polymers including polyamides, polyurethanes, polyesters, and epoxy resins¹⁹. Thus, there are remarkable applications of HMF and furfural in polymer industry. Indeed, some furan-based plastics have shown attractive performances than the traditional polymers. For example, furan-based polymers such as poly(propylene furanoate) (PPF)²⁰, poly(butylene furanoate) (PBF)¹⁹, Poly(ethylene furanoate) (PEF)²¹ exceed the performance of PET in terms of gas permeability. This reduces the permeability of the packages which intern increases the shelf life of the food or beverage. The reaction pathway of HMF and furfural, and some HMF and furfural-based products are given in Figure 2.

Although the market coverage of HMF is at its infancy, there is a huge market potential of its derivatives, such as FDCA for the replacement of terephthalic acid in the PET industry with around 40 MT/year market and adipic acid (\sim 3.2 MT per year market for the nylon industry)²². Other polymers are also produced in huge mega tons. Therefore, the transformation into the bio-based polymers would hugely contribute to sustainable development with less impact on environment.



Figure 2: The reaction pathway of HMF and Furfural and their constituent products

Nowadays, furfural and it's derivatives are produced by many countries such as China, South Africa, and the Dominican Republic from corncobs and bagasse³. Ideally, all pentose found in lignocellulosic biomasses can be used as a raw material and converted to furfural. The first plant for the industrial scale production of furfural was built in USA by Quaker Oats. In this process, sulfuric acid or phosphoric acid were used to hydrolyze the biomass at 153 °C. The yield of furfural was below 50 %. Owing to the low yield and other factors, the large-scale production of furfural is limited. Factors that affect the yield of HMF and furfural, include catalyst, solvent, heating method, reaction temperature, and reaction time.

Catalysts

The hydrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass, isomerization of glucose to fructose, and dehydration of fructose into HMF are catalyzed by a catalyst or a mixture of catalysts. Bronsted acids promote hydrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass and dehydration of fructose while Lewis acids (e.g., AlCl₃) stimulate isomerization of glucose into fructose²³. Bronsted acids catalyze the hydrolysis of lignocellulosic biomasses by attacking the oxygen atom found in the glycosidic bond (the C-O-C linkage) of polysaccharides by the protons of the acid²⁴. Whereas in the catalysis of fructose dehydration, the proton attaches to the C2 hydroxyl group of fructose thereby initiating the elimination of the first water molecule²⁵ (the detailed mechanism is given below). Generally, the catalyst properties, such as active species, active sites, pore size, and surface area determine the efficiency of catalysts²⁶.

In the mechanism of cellulose hydrolysis to glucose, a Lewis acid forms hydrated complexes in aqueous solution which helps the breakdown of the glycosidic linkages of cellulose. The water molecules coordinated with the Lewis acid act as a nucleophile to form glucose. In the isomerization step, mutarotation of the α -anomer of glucose caused by the hydrogen bonds of the anion of the Lewis acid with hydroxyl groups results in β -anomer. Subsequently, the hemiacetal portion of β -glucopyranose forms the metal enolate anion resulting in isomerization and consequent dehydration to HMF³⁴. Figure 3 shows the detailed mechanism of the catalyst during hydrolysis and isomerization reactions.

5



Figure 3: Proposed mechanism of AlCl₃ salt conversion of amorphous cellulose into fructose and HMF

Figure 4 shows AlCl₃ catalyzed hydrolysis of xylan and consecutive dehydration to give furfural. In this mechanism Al catalyzes xylose isomerization through a 1,2-hydride shift with successive conversion of xylulose into an oxocarbenium ion. Then, oxocarbenium ion gets deprotonated to give enol which finally loses two molecules of water to form furfural³⁵.



Figure 4: Mechanism of AlCl₃ catalyzed conversion of xylose into furfural through a hydride shift mechanism

It has been reported that metal chlorides are able to catalyze both the isomerization and dehydration steps. CrCl₂, CrCl₃, and AlCl₃ produce good yields (i.e., 52-54%) of HMF from glucose using DMSO solvent²⁷. CrCl₂ catalyst achieved 67% yield f HMF using ionic liquid solvent ²⁸. Paired catalytic system also give better HMF yield. Su et al. has proven that CuCl/PdCl were more effective in hydrolyzing the glycosidic bonds of cellulose than using strong mineral acids, such as H₂SO₄ and HCl at the same molar loading alone²⁹. In addition, catalysts having both Bronsted and Lewis catalytic sites (bifunctional catalysts) allow the one-pot conversion of the lignocellulosic substrate into HMF. Yu and Tsang obtained ~21% HMF yield from bread waste and glucose by heating at 140 & 160 °C for 20 minutes using SnCl₄ that has a strong Bronsted acidity and moderate Lewis acidity³⁰. H- ZSM-5 zeolite, another Lewis-Bronsted acid catalyst yielded 42% of HMF from glucose in a biphasic system³¹. Therefore, metal chlorides have a promising potential to be used for large-scale production of furfural and HMF.

Furthermore, the use of two catalysts, one having Bronsted acidity, and the other Lewis acidity can also substitute the bifunctional catalysts. Amberlyst 38 and CrCl₃ have been used as combined catalysts and 40% HMF yield from cellulose was observed³². These suggest that careful manipulation of the Lewis to Bronsted acid ratio could eliminate or reduce the undesirable reactions thereby getting high yield of HMF and furfural³³. However, there might be chemical interactions between the catalysts which may affect the yield of HMF and furfural. In addition, the strength of the selected acids could also affect the yield of HMF and furfural. Therefore, more research is required to determine efficient Lewis-Bronsted acid compositions and optimize the ratio to get reasonable yields of HMF and furfural from lignocellulosic biomass.

Solvents

The use of solvents, such as polar aprotic solvents (e.g., dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), methyl isobutyl ketone and tetrahydrofuran), water, and ionic liquids enhance the dissolution of the reactants and extraction of products, and these solvents have been used to produce HMF and furfural in many studies. Solvent properties, such as partition coefficient, boiling point, and thermal stability are the major parameters affecting the performance and recyclability of solvents³⁶.

Among the different solvents studied for HMF and furfural production, polar aprotic solvents have a promising efficiency for HMF production. Jia et al. have obtained a 67% yield of HMF from fructose using DMSO solvent at 130 °C in the absence of catalyst³⁷. More HMF yield (>90%) was also obtained with the use of Amberlyst-70 and sulfonated carbon catalysts³⁸.

Moreover, high HMF yield (52%) was achieved from glucose using tetrahydrofuran (THF) solvent and AlCl₃ catalyst³⁹. However, lower yield was obtained by the same authors using water instead of THF, at the same conditions and this might be due to slow rate of HMF formation and rapid rehydration to furan ring opening products, levilininc acid (LA) and formic acid⁴⁰. This suggests that the use of water alone as a solvent is less efficient and less viable option than polar aprotic solvents.

Methyl isobutyl ketone (MIBK), another polar aprotic solvent, have also been studied for HMF production. Due to its low solubility, MIBK forms a biphasic system with water. HMF yield of 55% have been obtained from fructose using MIBK/water biphasic solvent and HCl catalyst⁴¹. Ma et al. reported high yield of HMF (74%) from fructose by replacing the water partly with DMSO⁴². Although MIBK shows an attractive yield of HMF, according to Karimi and Mirzaeithere, MIBK can react with HMF to form undesirable side products⁴³ which arises the discourage to use MIBK for large scale production.

N,N-Dimethylacetamide (DMA), a water soluble polar aprotic solvent, was found to give 60% HMF yield from fructose and glucose using carbon based catalyst³⁸. Methyltetrahydrofuran (MTHF), a new bio-derived solvent, which resembles THF yielded 555–1570 mg L⁻¹ of HMF from cellulose and glucose in a biphasic system with water and levulinic acid catalyst⁴⁴. A two-step conversion of corn stover can give 60% yield of HMF using γ-Valerolactone (GVL) as catalyst⁴⁵.

Another class of solvents which have been studied for HMF production are ionic liquids. These are salts that melt at temperatures below 100 °C. Siankevich et al. have reported an excellent yield of HMF (90%) from glucose using ionic liquid solvent and metal chloride as catalyst⁴⁶. The same authors have reported that the yield of HMF from cellulose can be increased by adding co-solvents such as MIBK to the ionic liquids. However, there are some major drawbacks of using ionic liquids, including the high cost of ionic liquids and energy intensive process to separate HMF

8

and furfural from ionic liquids. Moreover, ionic liquids can be deactivated by the water produced in the dehydration step.

Yu Yang et al. have demonstrated the efficiency of THF based biphasic system which gives high yield (61%) of HMF from glucose⁴⁷. As THF is miscible with water, addition of salts will decrease the miscibility by generating high partition coefficient and transform the solution into biphasic system. This intern improves the selectivity and yield of HMF by extracting the HMF produced in the aqueous phase into organic phase. In addition to increasing the partitioning of HMF, Román-Leshkov et al. have reported that increasing NaCl concentrations from 0 to 30 wt.% in water-2-butanol biphasic system increases the selectivity of HMF product from 65 to 90%⁴⁸. That being the case, more investigations need to be carried out to find an optimum amount of the salt that need to be added in the reaction mixture to get a maximum selectivity and yield of HMF.

Moreover, Shi et al. found a good yield of HMF (43-53%) from cellulose by adding NaHSO₄/ZnSO₄ salts⁴⁹. However, THF thermally degrades at temperatures above 180 ^oC which arises major challenges for processes involving intensive thermal conditions. Therefore, relatively lower temperatures could be investigated while changing the other factors to get reasonable yield of HMF and furfural. Generally, biphasic systems give better HMF yields than monophasic systems. Thus, careful selection of the two solvents is an important factor to get the highest HMF yield.

Heating Methods

Among the conventional methods of heating (such as aluminum heating block, autoclave, oil bath, and salt bath), oil bath is the most widely used method. Carraher et al. reported that using 1-L oil bath allows to reach the desired temperature in 2 minutes and only small changes in temperature (a difference in 5 °C)⁵¹. However, conventional heating methods take long reaction time due to low efficiency of heat transfer.

Microwave heating is one of the most attractive methods of heating that have been studied by different researchers for HMF production. Fructose was used as substrate to produce 91% of HMF within 1 minute using microwave heating³². Similar observations were made by different researchers using different catalysts. Rasrendra et al. used microwave based heating and

reported HMF yield of 52 %, 54 %, and 54 % using AlCl₃, $CrCl_2$, and $CrCl_3$ catalysts, respectively²⁷. Saha et al. also found satisfactory yields of HMF using different solvents⁵².

Compared to the traditional methods of heating, microwave saves up to 85-fold more energy⁵³. In addition, microwave assisted heating gives increased product yields, shortens the reaction time, and diminishes the side reactions⁵². The major limitation of microwave assisted heating system is that the reacting substance must absorb microwave radiation. Therefore, microwave absorptivity of the mixture of solvents is required and possible methods of enhancing absorptivity need to be applied. Oven heating method can prevent this challenge.

Reaction temperature and time

Depending on the methods applied and/or the components of reaction, a wide range of temperatures have been examined to study the effect on the yield of HMF and furfural. According to Swift et al. temperature doesn't increase the yield of HMF but reduces the time required to reach the maximum HMF yield⁵⁴. However, the optimum time for the reaction should be considered because the prolonged reaction can result in the loss of HMF due to the occurrence of side reactions that lower HMF yield⁵⁵. The choice of the mixture of solvents used for HMF production also determines the degree of the HMF loss.

Challenges

There are many challenges associated with the production of HMF and furfural industrially. Small impurities can cause rapid aging of HMF due to dimer and oligomer formation⁵⁶. Therefore, high HMF purity is required even for storage. Off-path reactions such as rehydration of HMF and polymerization between the sugars and HMF are the major challenges that reduce the product selectivity⁵⁷. The yield is another limiting factor for the scaling up of the process. Although some conditions can give a higher yield of HMF and furfural, many factors including, the recalcitrance of the lignocellulosic biomass, efficiency of catalyst, low partitioning efficiency of the biphasic systems, etc. can affect the yield.

Moreover, the separation and purification are the major bottlenecks that halt the development of industrial scale production of HMF and furfural due to high separation cost. Besides these, there is a limited study made on the recyclability of the solvent and the catalyst in a biphasic system which arose another limitation for the scaling up of the process. Further studies are required to look for answers to these challenges to get more economic revenue out of furfural and HMF. This study aimed to look for an optimized conditions of catalyst compositions, reaction time, and catalyst mount that give good yield of HMF and furfural from different feedstocks.

Materials and Methods

Solvents and reagents

Tetrahydrofuran (THF), AlCl₃.6H₂O, FeCl₃.6H₂O, NaCl, and Millipore water were all analytical grade chemicals provided by Gembloux Agro-Bio Tech-University of Liege.

Plant Materials and other substrates

Eight plant materials (Oak, Beechwood, Spruce wood, Poplar wood, Miscanthus straw, Dialium lopense sapwood, Dialium angolense sapwood, and Klainedoxa gabonensis sapwood), C-200 Cellulose, Glucose, and Fructose were used as substrates for 5-HMF and 2-Furfural production. The dry weight of the lignocellulosic biomasses and C-200 cellulose was analyzed using oven-dry method (drying at 105 °C for 24 hours).

Experimentation

The method used for production of 5-HMF, and 2-F was based on Yang Y. et al.⁴⁷ with some modifications. A weight of 0.2 g of each substrate (i.e., biomass or other substrates) was weighed in a Schott. A salt (1.4 g of NaCl), 4 mL of Millipore water, 12 mL (or 3 folds volume of water) of THF, and 0.4 mmol of AlCl₃.6H₂O catalyst were added to the substrate. The mixture was allowed to stir mix at 900 rpm and 160 ^oC temperature in an oven. A reaction time of 90 minutes was applied for the lignocellulosic biomasses, 40 minutes for C-200 Cellulose, Glucose, and Fructose. A 20 minutes of reaction time was also applied for C-200 Cellulose and Fructose.

After the reaction was complete, the reaction mixture was allowed to cooldown for 20 minutes. Then the reaction mixture was poured into falcon tube and centrifuged at 1500 G for 5 minutes. The organic phase was taken from the falcon tube and poured into round-bottom flask for vacuum evaporation to remove THF. After vacuum evaporation was complete, 2 mL of Millipore water was added to the remaining residue and shaken slowly. The mixture was filtered with 0.45 μ m pore size syringe into an Eppendorf. Finally, 1 mL of the sample was taken and added to HPLC vials for HPLC analysis.

In addition to the above experiment, to study the effect of different catalyst compositions on the yield of HMF and furfural from beechwood biomass, the conditions presented in (Table 2) were chosen for the study. All the weights and volumes used were the same as the previous experiment except the weight and nature of catalytic system applied. AlCl₃.6H₂O and FeCl₃.6H₂O were used at different molar ratio.

Experiment	AICl ₃ .6H ₂ O (mmol)	FeCl ₃ .6H ₂ O (mmol)
1	0.40	0.00
2	0.30	0.1
3	0.20	0.2
4	0.10	0.3
5	0.00	0.4

Table 2: Experiment at different composition of catalysts

Moreover, another study was carried out by lowering the AlCl₃.6H₂O catalyst loading from 0.4 mmol to 0.1 mmol to determine the effect of catalyst loading on the yield of both HMF and furfural. Finally, to understand the effect of reaction time on HMF and furfural yield, lower reaction temperature was applied (60 minutes).

Determination of the calibration curve

The area of the peaks from HPLC result reflect the concentration of the substances in the reaction product. To calculate the concentration of both HMF and furfural in our reaction product, a calibration curve data was given by the lab assistants in Gembloux Agro-bio Tech laboratory. The calibration curves are given in Figure 5 below. The R² is close to 1 which suggests the close linear relationship of the concentration with area under the peak. Therefore, the higher the are the higher the concentration of furfural or HMF. the retention time of HMF and furfural are 47.559 and 72.323 minutes respectively.



Figure 5: HMF (a) and Furfural (b) calibration curves

Result and discussion

The aim of this study was to produce 5-HMF and 2-F and to compare the yields obtained from different substrates. In addition, the study was aimed to compare the yield of 5-HMF with the yield of furfural in each substrate. All the yields 5-HMF and 2-F are in molar percentages and on the basis of the dry weight of the biomass except for glucose and fructose.

Dry weight determination

The dry weight analysis of all the biomass is given in Table 3. All the analysis for the dry weight were done in triplicate. All biomasses have a dry weight above 90%. C-200 Cellulose have the least moisture content. All the standard deviations for the determination of dry weight are low suggesting the high reproducibility and reliability of the experiments.

Substrate	dry weight	SD
Oak bark	93.52	0.13
Beechwood	94.80	0.30
Spruce	91.44	0.23
Poplar	93.96	0.35
Miscanthus	92.50	0.21
Dialium lopense	92.96	0.38
Dialium angolense	91.11	0.27
Klainedoxa gabonensis	94.18	0.07
C-200 Cellulose	96.14	0.14

Table 3: Dry weight of all biomasses

Determination of 5-HMF, and furfural concentration

In the experiment to determine the yield of 5-HMF and 2-F, all experiments were done in triplicate except few which were done more than triplicate. But not all results were available for all the experiments due to loss of samples or unavailability of HPLC results for some samples. The raw data for the yield of 5-HMF and concentration of 2-Furfural are given in Table 44. A column graph is also given (**Error! Reference source not found.**) to show the differences in the yields for a II the substrates and the difference in the yield of both 5-HMF and 2-F.

The yield of HMF and furfural from the lignocellulosic biomasses were calculated as follows:

$$Furfural yield (mol\%) = \frac{(Furfural concentration \times Liquid volume/96)}{(grams of hemicellulose/132)} \times 100.....2$$

Where 126, 96, 180, and 150 are the molecular weights of HMF, furfural (FF), glucose or fructose, and xylose, respectively⁵⁸. A 162 g/mol of glucose and 132 g/mol of xylose were used in the calculation because the yield is based on the molecular mass after dehydration (i.e., after removal of water molecule) from glucose and xylose. Hence, the molecular mass of water (i.e., 18 g/mol) is subtracted from the molecular mass of glucose and xylose.

The HMF yield from glucose and fructose is calculated as:

	5-HMF yield		2-F Conc.		N <u>o</u> of
Substrate	(molar %)	SD	(mg/ml)	SD	Experiments
Oak bark	1.38	0.58	0.45	0.34	3
Beechwood	1.15	0.46	0.36	0.13	3
Spruce	4.02	0.71	0.21	0.09	3
Poplar	0.71	0.03	0.65	0.08	3
Miscanthus	1.08	0.49	1.09	1.03	4
Dialium lopense	0.38	0.21	0.45	0.37	5
Dialium angolense	0.34	0.22	0.21	0.03	2
Klainedoxa gabonensis	1.32	0.60	1.25	0.67	3
C-200 Cellulose ^a	0.00	0.00	0.16	0.16	3
C-200 Cellulose ^b	0.58	0.00	N/A	N/A	1
Glucose	3.47	0.26	0.00	0.00	2
Fructose ^b	2.12	0.30	0.04	0.02	3
Fructose ^a	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

HMF vield (mol %) -	_ HMF concentration ×Liquid volume/12	$\frac{6}{5} \times 100$ 3 ⁵	9
(IIII) ytetu (1101 70) -	grams of glucose OR fructose/180	× 100	•

Table 4: 5-HMF yield (molar %) and conc. of 2-F of different substrates (a=20 min heating, b=40min heating)

As can be seen from Table 44 or **Error! Reference source not found.**6 below, the highest yield of 5-HMF was obtained from spruce wood. Glucose and Fructose give the next highest yields consecutively. Yu Yang et al. have used the same catalyst and biphasic system but they obtained higher yields of HMF (61% from glucose and 26% from poplar)⁴⁷. Compared to these results, very low yield of HMF was obtained in this study. This could be due to the difference in the method of heating applied. In this study, oven heating method was applied instead of microwave heating. In addition to the difference in the method of heating, the reaction temperature used in this study for the lignocellulosic biomass was reduced by 20 °C (i.e., 160 °C). Nevertheless, the higher

yield of HMF from spruce than from glucose remains strange and this could also be due to some possible manipulation errors during the experimentation or mistakes when taking the readings from the HPLC result. Generally, all the yield are very low as compared to the yields obtained by many researchers. Although different solvent and catalyst are used for the production of HMF, higher yield of HMF were obtained from fructose¹³, beechwood⁶⁰, and miscanthus⁶¹ than yields found in this study.



Figure 6: Yield of HMF in molar %

In Figure 77, we observe that there is no furfural produced from glucose. This is because glucose is a 6-carbon sugar while furfural is a compound containing 5 carbon atoms. Although furfural can be produced from glucose it requires an energy intensive process of decarboxylation and dehydration of glucose. Therefore, zero yield of furfural from glucose was expected. Indeed, Dutta Saikat et al. have reported that the yield of furfural from glucose is generally lower than the yield of HMF⁶². But in the case of fructose, we can see that there was some amount of furfural produced. There is quite low yield of HMF from C-200 Cellulose. However, there is even more furfural concentration in C-200 Cellulose which might have been arisen from possible mistakes in taking the readings from the HPLC result. However, we cannot rely on the concentrations to

compare the yields of furfural. Even if we consider the volumes after the vacuum evaporation were equal, the yield depends on the percentage of hemicellulose and dry weight of each biomass. Therefore, no conclusion was done on the difference in the yield of furfural for the biomasses.



Figure 7: Concentration of 2-F for different substrates

Effect of co-catalysis on HMF and furfural yield

In another experiment to determine the effect of co-catalysis at different molar compositions of AlCl₃·6H₂O and FeCl₃.6H₂O were tested. FeCl₃.6H₂O has higher Bronsted acidity⁶³ than AlCl₃·6H₂O and AlCl₃·6H₂O has higher Lewis acidity than FeCl₃.6H₂O⁶⁴. Chao Wang et al. have obtained a higher yield of HMF when they used a combination Lewis acid and Bronsted acid than when the two catalysts were used separately⁶⁵. It is on the basis of this principle of co-catalysis that this study was proposed, expecting more HMF yield than using AlCl₃·6H₂O alone. Four different conditions (Table 52) were selected. In addition, one more experiment was undertaken to examine the effect of AlCl₃·6H₂O loading on the yield. The yields of HMF and the corresponding furfural concentrations are given in Table 5. All these the experiments were done in triplicate.

AlCl₃·6H₂O (mmol)	FeCl3.6H2O (mmol)	5-HMF Yield (molar %)	SD	2-F yield (mol %)	SD
0.40	0.00	1.15	0.46	2.44	0.86
0.30	0.10	0.08	0.12	1.07	0.92
0.20	0.20	0.31	0.03	1.55	0.98
0.10	0.30	0.07	0.03	2.27	0.46
0.00	0.40	0.02	0.03	1.20	0.38

Table 5: 5-HMF and furfural yield at different catalyst compositions

The highest yield of both was obtained at catalyst load of 0.4 mmol of $AlCl_3 \cdot 6H_2O$ (Figure 88). There is a significant decrease in HMF and furfural yield when co-catalysis of $AlCl_3 \cdot 6H_2O$ with *FeCl3.6H2O* is applied. Even when the moles of $AlCl_3 \cdot 6H_2O$ are reduced only by 0.1 mmol, the HMF yield gets close to zero (i.e., 0.08%) and the furfural yield also reduced significantly. This could be due to increased acidity when the two acidic catalysts are added to the reaction mixture. Fe (III) has higher pKa value than Al (III) which means Fe (III) is stronger acid than Al (III)⁶⁶. Paul Körner et al. have reported that moderate acidity favor increased HMF yield but with increased acidity the HMF degrades into levulinic acid⁶⁷. Shalini Aurora et al. have also investigated the effect of pH on the yield of furfural. According to these researchers, furfural yield decreased from 85 to 51% when the acidity increased from 1.0 to 3.0^{68} . However, with further reduction of $AlCl_3 \cdot 6H_2O$ and addition of *FeCl3.6H2O* the yield slightly increased but only by small amount.

Moreover, at low catalyst loading (i.e., 0.1 mmol $AlCl_3 \cdot 6H_2O$), the yield of HMF and furfural decreases (Table 6, Appendix) as compared to higher catalyst loading (i.e., 0.4 mmol $AlCl_3 \cdot 6H_2O$). The increased yield at higher catalyst loading is attributed to the increase in the active sites of the catalyst and vice versa⁶⁹. However, optimum amount of catalyst need to be determined as the catalysts may also catalyze the degradation of HMF if the catalyst are used at larger loading⁷⁰. Generally, the low amount of $AlCl_3 \cdot 6H_2O$ loading and the use of the mixture of catalysts give very

low yields of HMF than pure $AlCl_3 \cdot 6H_2O$ at relatively higher catalyst loading (i.e., 0.4 mmol). Furthermore, *FeCl3.6H2O* gives lower yield than $AlCl_3 \cdot 6H_2O$ and pure *FeCl3.6H2O* favors the production of furfural than HMF as compared to pure $AlCl_3 \cdot 6H_2O$.



Figure 8: 5-HMF and furfural yield at different catalyst compositions

The effect of reaction time on the yield of HMF was also studied. Due to the limit in time, only one experiment (in triplicate) was done. The reaction time was lowered to 60 minutes instead of 90 and an HMF and furfural yield of 0.48 % and 2.45 % was obtained (Table 7, Appendix), respectively. As reaction time increases, the yield of HMF from fructose was observed to decrease at temperatures above 150 $^{\circ}C^{69}$. According to this, higher yield of HMF was expected than in 90 minutes of reaction time because the temperature is above 150 $^{\circ}C$. This low yield of HMF might be due to the difference in the feedstocks used. Usually, lignocellulosic feedstocks require more reaction time than glucose and fructose due to their recalcitrant nature. However, the yield of furfural is not affected by lowering the reaction time. Therefore, no conclusion can be made on this because we cannot count on limited number of experiments to wrap up the effect of time on the yield. The yield of furfural was also determined to be almost zero for all conditions.



Figure 9: Flowsheet of HMF and furfural production (batch process and recycling included)

Conclusion and perspectives

In this study, HMF and furfural were produced from a variety of substrates and different yields were obtained. The effect of different catalytic compositions and reaction time were also investigated with the aim of optimizing the yield of HMF and furfural. *AlCl₃·6H₂O* showed excellent catalytic activity whereas FeCl₃.6H₂O gives reduced yields. The reaction time also showed more significant impact on the yields of HMF than on furfural. However, all the yield are quite low as compared to different literatures.

The deployment of lignocellulosic biomasses to replace fossil-fuel based polymers is vital for a sustainable development and environmental benefit. HMF and furfural are bioderived chemicals that have a wide range of uses and applications in polymer industry. These value-added products have the potential of replacing some fossil fuel-based polymers. Various parameters affect the yields of both furfural and HMF from lignocellulosic biomass, including the nature and/or composition of the substrate, efficiency of catalyst, type of solvent, heating method, reaction temperature, reaction time, etc. Optimum reaction conditions that give high yields are required to encourage the large-scale production of HMF and furfural.

The yields of HMF and furfural have been found to increase significantly when biphasic system is used. This surmounts the inefficiencies that are observed in mono-phasic systems. Metal chlorides are also a promising catalyst whose efficiency have been reported in many studies. Moreover, sodium chloride is an excellent partitioning agent that help improve the yield. Therefore, given the huge abundance of lignocellulosic biomasses and large market potential of HMF and furfural, further studies need be made at different reaction times using different heating methods to optimize the conditions to improve the yields of HMF and furfural. Solving these issues could inspire the expansion of large-scale production of these value-added products for various applications in bioplastic industry.

References

- (1) Manuscript, A. RSC Advances. **2013**, No. 207890. https://doi.org/10.1039/C3RA45396K.
- (2) Lange, J.-P.; van der Heide, E.; van Buijtenen, J.; Price, R. Furfural—A Promising Platform for Lignocellulosic Biofuels. *ChemSusChem* **2012**, *5* (1), 150–166. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cssc.201100648.
- (3) Services, W. B. and T. Furfural Chemicals and Biofuels from Agriculture. *Development* **2006**, No. 06, 39.
- Menegazzo, F.; Ghedini, E.; Signoretto, M. 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF) Production from Real Biomasses. *Molecules* 2018, 23 (9), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules23092201.
- (5) Dussan, K.; Girisuta, B.; Haverty, D.; Leahy, J. J.; Hayes, M. H. B. Kinetics of Levulinic Acid and Furfural Production from Miscanthus×giganteus. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2013, 149, 216– 224. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.09.006.
- (6) Carrasquillo-Flores, R.; Käldström, M.; Schüth, F.; Dumesic, J. A.; Rinaldi, R.
 Mechanocatalytic Depolymerization of Dry (Ligno)Cellulose As an Entry Process for High-Yield Production of Furfurals. ACS Catal. 2013, 3 (5), 993–997. https://doi.org/10.1021/cs4001333.
- Dedrie, M.; Jacquet, N.; Bombeck, P.-L.; Hébert, J.; Richel, A. Oak Barks as Raw Materials for the Extraction of Polyphenols for the Chemical and Pharmaceutical Sectors: A Regional Case Study. *Ind. Crops Prod.* 2015, *70*, 316–321. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2015.03.071.
- (8) Zule, J. Možnosti Kemične Predelave Bukovega Lesa. Gozdarski Vestn. 2015, 73 (10), 479–487.
- Čabalová, I.; Bélik, M.; Kučerová, V.; Jurczyková, T. Chemical and Morphological Composition of Norway Spruce Wood (Picea Abies, L.) in the Dependence of Its Storage. *Polymers*. 2021. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym13101619.
- (10) Sannigrahi, P.; Ragauskas, A. J.; Tuskan, G. A. Poplar as a Feedstock for Biofuels: A Review of Compositional Characteristics. *Biofuels, Bioprod. Biorefining* **2010**, *4* (2), 209–226. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/bbb.206.
- (11) Godin, B.; Ghysel, F.; Agneessens, R.; Schmit, T.; Gofflot, S.; Lamaudière, S.; Sinnaeve, G.; Goffart, J. P.; Gerin, P. A.; Stilmant, D.; Delcarte, J. Détermination de La Cellulose, Des Hémicelluloses, de La Lignine et Des Cendres Dans Diverses Cultures Lignocellulosiques Dédiées à La Production de Bioéthanol de Deuxième Génération. *Biotechnol. Agron. Soc. Environ.* **2010**, *14* (SPEC. ISSUE 2), 549–560.
- Bengono, G. B.; Souza, A.; Tosso, F.; Doucet, R.; Richel, A.; Doucet, J.-L. Les Dialium de La Région Guinéo-Congolaise (Synthèse Bibliographique). *Base* 2021, 25 (3), 172–191. https://doi.org/10.25518/1780-4507.19114.

- (13) Weingart, E.; Tschirner, S.; Teevs, L.; Prüße, U. Conversion of Fructose to HMF in a Continuous Fixed Bed Reactor with Outstanding Selectivity. *Molecules* 2018, 23 (7), 1802. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules23071802.
- (14) van Dam, H. E.; Kieboom, A. P. G.; van Bekkum, H. The Conversion of Fructose and Glucose in Acidic Media: Formation of Hydroxymethylfurfural. *Starch - Stärke* 1986, *38* (3), 95–101. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/star.19860380308.
- (15) Mascal, M.; Nikitin, E. B. Direct, High-Yield Conversion of Cellulose into Biofuel. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **2008**, *47* (41), 7924–7926. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200801594.
- (16) Wettstein, S. G.; Alonso, D. M.; Gürbüz, E. I.; Dumesic, J. A. A Roadmap for Conversion of Lignocellulosic Biomass to Chemicals and Fuels. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Eng.* 2012, 1 (3), 218– 224. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coche.2012.04.002.
- (17) De, S.; Dutta, S.; Saha, B. One-Pot Conversions of Lignocellulosic and Algal Biomass into Liquid Fuels. *ChemSusChem* 2012, 5 (9), 1826–1833. https://doi.org/10.1002/cssc.201200031.
- (18) Román-Leshkov, Y.; Barrett, C. J.; Liu, Z. Y.; Dumesic, J. A. Production of Dimethylfuran for Liquid Fuels from Biomass-Derived Carbohydrates. *Nature* 2007, 447 (7147), 982–985. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05923.
- Wang, J.; Liu, X.; Zhu, J.; Jiang, Y. Copolyesters Based on 2,5-Furandicarboxylic Acid (FDCA): Effect of 2,2,4,4-Tetramethyl-1,3-Cyclobutanediol Units on Their Properties. *Polymers*. 2017. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym9090305.
- (20) Vannini, M.; Marchese, P.; Celli, A.; Lorenzetti, C. Fully Biobased Poly(Propylene 2,5-Furandicarboxylate) for Packaging Applications: Excellent Barrier Properties as a Function of Crystallinity. *Green Chem.* 2015, *17* (8), 4162–4166. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5GC00991J.
- Kainulainen, T. P.; Hukka, T. I.; Özeren, H. D.; Sirviö, J. A.; Hedenqvist, M. S.; Heiskanen, J. P. Utilizing Furfural-Based Bifuran Diester as Monomer and Comonomer for High-Performance Bioplastics: Properties of Poly(Butylene Furanoate), Poly(Butylene Bifuranoate), and Their Copolyesters. *Biomacromolecules* 2020, *21* (2), 743–752. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biomac.9b01447.
- Buntara, T.; Noel, S.; Phua, P. H.; Melián-Cabrera, I.; de Vries, J. G.; Heeres, H. J.
 Caprolactam from Renewable Resources: Catalytic Conversion of 5 Hydroxymethylfurfural into Caprolactone. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 2011, 50 (31), 7083–7087. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201102156.
- (23) Mukherjee, A.; Raghavan, V. ScienceDirect Review : Sustainable Production of Hydroxymethylfurfural and Levulinic Acid : Challenges and Opportunities. **2014**. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2014.11.007.
- (24) Zhou, L.; Liang, R.; Ma, Z.; Wu, T.; Wu, Y. Conversion of Cellulose to HMF in Ionic Liquid Catalyzed by Bifunctional Ionic Liquids. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2013**, *129*, 450–455.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.11.015.

- (25) Antal, M. J.; Mok, W. S. L.; Richards, G. N. Mechanism of Formation of 5-(Hydroxymethyl)-2-Furaldehyde from d-Fructose and Sucrose. *Carbohydr. Res.* 1990, 199 (1), 91–109. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0008-6215(90)84096-D.
- (26) Delidovich, I.; Palkovits, R. Catalytic Isomerization of Biomass-Derived Aldoses: A Review. *ChemSusChem* **2016**, *9* (6), 547–561. https://doi.org/10.1002/cssc.201501577.
- (27) Rasrendra, C. B.; Soetedjo, J. N. M.; Makertihartha, I. G. B. N.; Adisasmito, S.; Heeres, H. J. The Catalytic Conversion of D-Glucose to 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural in DMSO Using Metal Salts. *Top. Catal.* **2012**, *55* (7), 543–549. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11244-012-9826-y.
- (28) Zhao, H.; Holladay, J. E.; Brown, H.; Zhang, Z. C. Metal Chlorides in Ionic Liquid Solvents Convert Sugars to 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural. *Science (80-.).* 2007, *316* (5831), 1597–1600. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1141199.
- Su, Y.; Brown, H. M.; Li, G.; Zhou, X.; Amonette, J. E.; Fulton, J. L.; Camaioni, D. M.; Zhang,
 Z. C. Accelerated Cellulose Depolymerization Catalyzed by Paired Metal Chlorides in Ionic
 Liquid Solvent. *Appl. Catal. A Gen.* 2011, 391 (1), 436–442.
 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apcata.2010.09.021.
- (30) Yu, I. K. M.; Tsang, D. C. W.; Yip, A. C. K.; Chen, S. S.; Ok, Y. S.; Poon, C. S. Valorization of Food Waste into Hydroxymethylfurfural: Dual Role of Metal Ions in Successive Conversion Steps. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2016**, *219*, 338–347. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.08.002.
- (31) Moreno-Recio, M.; Santamaría-González, J.; Maireles-Torres, P. Brönsted and Lewis Acid ZSM-5 Zeolites for the Catalytic Dehydration of Glucose into 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2016, 303, 22–30. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2016.05.120.
- (32) Wrigstedt, P.; Keskiväli, J.; Repo, T. Microwave-Enhanced Aqueous Biphasic Dehydration of Carbohydrates to 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural. *RSC Adv.* **2016**, *6* (23), 18973–18979. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5RA25564C.
- Yu, I. K. M.; Tsang, D. C. W.; Yip, A. C. K.; Chen, S. S.; Wang, L.; Ok, Y. S.; Poon, C. S. Catalytic Valorization of Starch-Rich Food Waste into Hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF): Controlling Relative Kinetics for High Productivity. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2017, 237, 222–230. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.01.017.
- (34) Peng, L.; Lin, L.; Zhang, J.; Zhuang, J.; Zhang, B.; Gong, Y. Catalytic Conversion of Cellulose to Levulinic Acid by Metal Chlorides. *Molecules* 2010, 15 (8), 5258–5272. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules15085258.
- (35) Binder, J. B.; Blank, J. J.; Cefali, A. V.; Raines, R. T. Synthesis of Furfural from Xylose and Xylan. *ChemSusChem* **2010**, *3* (11), 1268–1272. https://doi.org/10.1002/cssc.201000181.
- (36) Saha, B.; Abu-Omar, M. M. Advances in 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural Production from

Biomass in Biphasic Solvents. *Green Chem.* **2014**, *16* (1), 24–38. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3gc41324a.

- (37) Jia, S.; Xu, Z.; Zhang, Z. C. Catalytic Conversion of Glucose in Dimethylsulfoxide/Water Binary Mix with Chromium Trichloride: Role of Water on the Product Distribution. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2014**, *254*, 333–339. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2014.05.121.
- (38) Wang, J.; Xu, W.; Ren, J.; Liu, X.; Lu, G.; Wang, Y. Efficient Catalytic Conversion of Fructose into Hydroxymethylfurfural by a Novel Carbon-Based Solid Acid. *Green Chem.* 2011, 13 (10), 2678–2681. https://doi.org/10.1039/C1GC15306D.
- Yang, Y.; Hayashi, Y.; Fujii, Y.; Nagano, T.; Kita, Y.; Ohshima, T.; Okuda, J.; Mashima, K. Efficient Cyclic Carbonate Synthesis Catalyzed by Zinc Cluster Systems under Mild Conditions. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* 2012, 2 (3), 509–513. https://doi.org/10.1039/C1CY00404B.
- Qi, X.; Watanabe, M.; Aida, T. M.; Smith Richard L., J. Efficient Process for Conversion of Fructose to 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural with Ionic Liquids. *Green Chem.* 2009, *11* (9), 1327– 1331. https://doi.org/10.1039/B905975J.
- (41) Román-Leshkov, Y.; Chheda, J. N.; Dumesic, J. A. Phase Modifiers Promote Efficient Production of Hydroxymethylfurfural from Fructose. *Science (80-.).* 2006, *312* (5782), 1933–1937. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1126337.
- Ma, H.; Wang, F.; Yu, Y.; Wang, L.; Li, X. Autocatalytic Production of 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural from Fructose-Based Carbohydrates in a Biphasic System and Its Purification. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* 2015, *54* (10), 2657–2666. https://doi.org/10.1021/ie504791x.
- (43) Karimi, B.; Mirzaei, H. M. The Influence of Hydrophobic/Hydrophilic Balance of the Mesoporous Solid Acid Catalysts in the Selective Dehydration of Fructose into HMF. *RSC Adv.* 2013, 3 (43), 20655–20661. https://doi.org/10.1039/C3RA44214D.
- (44) Seemala, B.; Haritos, V.; Tanksale, A. Levulinic Acid as a Catalyst for the Production of 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural and Furfural from Lignocellulose Biomass. *ChemCatChem* 2016, 8 (3), 640–647. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cctc.201501105.
- (45) Luterbacher, J. S.; Rand, J. M.; Alonso, D. M.; Han, J.; Youngquist, J. T.; Maravelias, C. T.; Pfleger, B. F.; Dumesic, J. A. Nonenzymatic Sugar Production from Biomass Using Biomass-Derived γ-Valerolactone. *Science* **2014**, *343* (6168), 277–280. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1246748.
- (46) Siankevich, S.; Fei, Z.; Scopelliti, R.; Jessop, P. G.; Zhang, J.; Yan, N.; Dyson, P. J. Direct Conversion of Mono- and Polysaccharides into 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural Using Ionic-Liquid Mixtures. *ChemSusChem* **2016**, *9* (16), 2089–2096. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cssc.201600313.
- (47) Yang, Y.; Hu, C. wei; Abu-Omar, M. M. Conversion of Carbohydrates and Lignocellulosic Biomass into 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural Using AlCl3·6H2O Catalyst in a Biphasic Solvent

System. Green Chem. 2012, 14 (2), 509–513. https://doi.org/10.1039/c1gc15972k.

- (48) Román-Leshkov, Y.; Barrett, C. J.; Liu, Z. Y.; Dumesic, J. A. Production of Dimethylfuran for Liquid Fuels from Biomass-Derived Carbohydrates. *Nature* 2007, 447 (7147), 982–985. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05923.
- (49) Shi, N.; Liu, Q.; Zhang, Q.; Wang, T.; Ma, L. High Yield Production of 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural from Cellulose by High Concentration of Sulfates in Biphasic System. *Green Chem.* 2013, *15* (7), 1967–1974. https://doi.org/10.1039/C3GC40667A.
- (50) Chheda, J. N.; Román-Leshkov, Y.; Dumesic, J. A. Production of 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural and Furfural by Dehydration of Biomass-Derived Mono- and Poly-Saccharides. *Green Chem.* **2007**, *9* (4), 342–35. https://doi.org/10.1039/b611568c.
- (51) Carraher, J. M.; Fleitman, C. N.; Tessonnier, J.-P. Kinetic and Mechanistic Study of Glucose Isomerization Using Homogeneous Organic Brønsted Base Catalysts in Water. *ACS Catal.* 2015, 5 (6), 3162–3173. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.5b00316.
- (52) Saha, B.; De, S.; Fan, M. Zr(O)Cl2 Catalyst for Selective Conversion of Biorenewable Carbohydrates and Biopolymers to Biofuel Precursor 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural in Aqueous Medium. *Fuel* **2013**, *111*, 598–605. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2013.03.031.
- Yemiş, O.; Mazza, G. Optimization of Furfural and 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural Production from Wheat Straw by a Microwave-Assisted Process. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2012, 109, 215– 223. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.01.031.
- (54) Swift, T. D.; Nguyen, H.; Anderko, A.; Nikolakis, V.; Vlachos, D. G. Tandem Lewis/Brønsted Homogeneous Acid Catalysis: Conversion of Glucose to 5-Hydoxymethylfurfural in an Aqueous Chromium (III) Chloride and Hydrochloric Acid Solution. *Green Chem.* 2015, *17* (10), 4725–4735.
- (55) Mirzaei, H. M.; Karimi, B. Sulphanilic Acid as a Recyclable Bifunctional Organocatalyst in the Selective Conversion of Lignocellulosic Biomass to 5-HMF. *Green Chem.* 2016, 18 (8), 2282–2286. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5GC02440D.
- (56) Artz, J.; Palkovits, R. Cellulose-Based Platform Chemical: The Path to Application. *Curr. Opin. Green Sustain. Chem.* 2018, 14, 14–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogsc.2018.05.005.
- (57) Theresa, H.; Nakagawa, K.; Peng, Y.; Koito, Y.; Zheng, J.; Chi, S.; Tsang, E. Niobium Oxides : Correlation of Acidity with Structure and Catalytic Performance in Sucrose Conversion to 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural. J. Catal. 2016, 338, 329–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcat.2016.03.007.
- (58) Cai, C.; Liu, Q.; Tan, J.; Wang, T.; Zhang, Q.; Ma, L. Conversion of Cellulose to 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural Using Inorganic Acidic Catalysts in the Presence of Pressurized Water Steam. *BioResources* **2017**, *12* (1), 1201–1215. https://doi.org/10.15376/biores.12.1.1201-1215.

- (59) Zhou, C.; Zhao, J.; Yagoub, A. E. A.; Ma, H.; Yu, X.; Hu, J.; Bao, X.; Liu, S. Conversion of Glucose into 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural in Different Solvents and Catalysts: Reaction Kinetics and Mechanism. *Egypt. J. Pet.* **2017**, *26* (2), 477–487. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpe.2016.07.005.
- (60) Dedes, G.; Karnaouri, A.; Marianou, A. A.; Kalogiannis, K. G.; Michailof, C. M.; Lappas, A. A.; Topakas, E. Conversion of Organosolv Pretreated Hardwood Biomass into 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF) by Combining Enzymatic Hydrolysis and Isomerization with Homogeneous Catalysis. *Biotechnol. Biofuels* 2021, 14 (1), 172. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13068-021-02022-9.
- (61) Rivas, S.; Vila, C.; Alonso, J.; Santos, V.; Parajó, J.; Leahy, J. Biorefinery Processes for the Valorization of Miscanthus Polysaccharides: From Constituent Sugars to Platform Chemicals. *Ind. Crops Prod.* 2019, 134, 309–317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2019.04.005.
- (62) Dutta, S.; Saha, B. Advances in Biomass Transformation to 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural and Mechanistic Aspects. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 2013, 55, 355–369. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2013.02.008.
- (63) Cai, C. M.; Nagane, N.; Kumar, R.; Wyman, C. E. Coupling Metal Halides with a Co-Solvent to Produce Furfural and 5-HMF at High Yields Directly from Lignocellulosic Biomass as an Integrated Biofuels Strategy. *Green Chem.* **2014**, *16* (8), 3819–3829. https://doi.org/10.1039/c4gc00747f.
- (64) Yu, I. K. M.; Tsang, D. C. W. Conversion of Biomass to Hydroxymethylfurfural: A Review of Catalytic Systems and Underlying Mechanisms. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2017, 238, 716–732. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.04.026.
- (65) Wang, C.; Zhang, L.; Zhou, T.; Chen, J.; Xu, F. Synergy of Lewis and Brønsted Acids on Catalytic Hydrothermal Decomposition of Carbohydrates and Corncob Acid Hydrolysis Residues to 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural. *Sci. Rep.* **2017**, 7 (December 2016), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep40908.
- (66) Acids, I. Inorganic Acids and Bases PKa Values Values for the Negative Logarithm of the Acid Dissociation Constant, PKa, of Inorganic Acids and Bases, as Well as Hydrated Metal Ions. 1–7.
- (67) Körner, P.; Jung, D.; Kruse, A. Influence of the PH Value on the Hydrothermal Degradation of Fructose. *ChemistryOpen* **2019**, *8* (8), 1109–1120. https://doi.org/10.1002/open.201900225.
- (68) Arora, S.; Gupta, N.; Singh, V. PH-Controlled Efficient Conversion of Hemicellulose to Furfural Using Choline-Based Deep Eutectic Solvents as Catalysts. *ChemSusChem* 2021, 14 (18), 3953–3958. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cssc.202101130.
- (69) Li, W.; Zhang, T.; Xin, H.; Su, M.; Ma, L.; Jameel, H.; Chang, H. M.; Pei, G. P -Hydroxybenzenesulfonic Acid-Formaldehyde Solid Acid Resin for the Conversion of

Fructose and Glucose to 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural. *RSC Adv.* **2017**, *7* (44), 27682–27688. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7ra03155f.

(70) Patil, S. K. R.; Lund, C. R. F. Formation and Growth of Humins via Aldol Addition and Condensation during Acid-Catalyzed Conversion of 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural. *Energy & Fuels* 2011, 25 (10), 4745–4755. https://doi.org/10.1021/ef2010157.

5-HMF Yield (molar %)	SD	2-F yield (mol %)	SD
0.00	0.01	0.04	0.04
		,	513.1120 1000111g
		,,	
5-HMF Yield (molar %)	SD	2-F yield (mol %)	SD

Table 7: Yield of HMF and Furfural (reaction time=60 min and AlCl3.6H2O catalyst loading= 0.4mmol)